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Docket No. 70-1201
License No..SNM-1166

B&W Fuel Company ,

Commercial Nuclear Fuel Plcnt
ATTN: Mr. C.W. Carr

Plant Manager
P.O. Box 11646
Lynchburg, VA 24506-1646

,

Dear Mr. Carr:

We have received your letter dated January 22, 1993, regarding
the reply to the " Notice of Violations" issued in-the Nuclear

5 Regulatory Commission Inspection Report No. 70-1201/92-201. . Your -_

response has been deemed adequate, however, it was not received
by the NRC within the 30 days specified in the " Notice ofc

Violations." This is in violation of 10 CFR 2.201.

Due to the fact-that the NRC was informed of 'he non-compliance
by Kathryn Knapp, Manager, Safety and Licensing, on January 21,
1993, and the situation was promptly acLe3 upon, the NRC is
issuing a Non-cited Violation which is summarized in Enclosure 1.
No response is required in regard to this matter,

sincerr.ly,//ct
f C. N. (Mike) Smith, Chief

*)E Operations Branch'

J Division of Fuel-Cycle Safety
and Safeguards, NMSS

Enclosure: As stated '

-
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Licence No. SNM-1168

B&W Fuel Company ,-

Commercial Nuclear Fuel Plant '

ATTH: Mr. C.H. Carr
Plant Manager

P.O. Box 11646 /
Lynchburg, VA 24506-1646 /

/Dear Mr. Carr: j
/

We have received your letter dated Januar 22, 1993, regarding
the reply to the " Notice of Violations"< issued in the Nuclear
Regulatory Commission Inspection Report No. 70-1201/92-201. Your
response has been deemed adequate, however, it was not received -

by the NRC within the 30 days specified in the " Notice of
Violations." This is in violation of-10 CFR 2.201.

x
Due to the fact that the- NRC wa's ' informed of the non-compliance
by Kathryn Knapp, Manager, Safety and Licensing, on January 21,
1993, and the situation was,promptly acted upon, the NRC is
issuing a Non-Cited Violation which is summarized in Enclosure 1.
No response is required in regard to this' matter.

N
/ Sincerely, \,

'
orw.aisped Byc';t(pao) smith

Smit)1w\
C. N. (Mike) Chief

, . ' operations Branch.
Division of Fuel CyclexSafety

j and Safeguards,-NMSS

Enclosure:. s stated

Codmonwealth of Virginiacc: '

DISTRIBUTION: NRC File Center DOC File 70-1201 ' 'DR NSIC
FCOB r/f FCOB s/f J. Kirby,-RII RFBurnt t CLight
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Docket No. 70-1201
License No. SNM-1168

B&W Fuel Company
Commercial Nuclear Fuel Plant >

[ATTN: Mr. C.W. Carr

[/Plant Manager
P.O. Box 11646
Lynchburg, VA 24506-1646

Dear Mr. Carr:\
\We have received your letter, dated January 22, 1993, regarding f

the reply to the nyotice of Violations" issued in the Nuclearj

Regulatory Commissign Inspection Report No. 70-1201/92-201. Your
response has been dogmed adequate, however, it was not received
by the NRC within the 30 days specified in the " Notice of

'

Violatior. 3. " This is in/ violation of 10 CFR 2.201.
j

Due to the fact that th'e TRC was informed nf the non-compliance
by Kathryn Knapp, Mana'ger, Safety and Licensing, on January 21,
1993, and the situati'on wa prompt'y acted upon, the NRC is
issuing a Non-Cited,Violaticy which is summarized D Enclosure 1.-
No response is reqp1 red in rebard to this matter.

<' Si cerely,

|
/ Charle N. (Mike) Smith, Chief

'

Operatio s Branch
Division Fuel _ Cycle Safety

and Safe ards, NMSS

Enclosure: As stated

Co$monwealth of VAcc:
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